
 

 

 
CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF 
COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 
COMMITTEE SUMMONS 
 
C.Hanagan 
Service Director of Democratic Services & Communication 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
The Pavilions 
Cambrian Park 
Clydach Vale CF40 2XX 
 
Meeting Contact: Tracy Watson - Senior Democratic & Scrutiny Officer  (07747 
485567)  
 
YOU ARE SUMMONED to a Special hybrid meeting of the EDUCATION AND 
INCLUSION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE to be held on TUESDAY, 20TH JUNE, 2023 
at 5.00 PM. 
 
Non Committee Members and Members of the public may request the facility to 
address the Committee at their meetings on the business listed although facilitation 
of this request is at the discretion of the Chair. It is kindly asked that such notification 
is made to Democratic Services by Friday, 16 June 2023 on the contact details listed 
above, including stipulating whether the address will be in Welsh or English. 
 

 
AGENDA Page 

No’s 
SCRUTINY RESEARCH 
 

A scrutiny research facility is available within the Council Business 
Unit to support Members’ scrutiny responsibilities and their roles as 
Elected Members.  Such research strengthens Scrutiny Committee 
work programmes to ensure outcome-based topics are identified. For 
any scrutiny research requirements please contact 
scrutiny@rctcbc.gov.uk 

 

1. DECLARATION OF INTEREST   

 To receive disclosures of personal interest from Members in accordance 
with the Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

1. Members are requested to identify the item number and subject 
matter that their interest relates to and signify the nature of the 
personal interest: and 

 

mailto:scrutiny@rctcbc.gov.uk


 

 
2. Where Members withdraw from a meeting as a consequence of 

the disclosure of a prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chairman when they leave. 

   

REPORTS OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES AND 
COMMUNICATIONS  

 

   

2. ESTYN'S REPORT ON EDUCATION SERVICES IN RHONDDA 
CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 

 Pre-Scrutiny – For Members to scrutinise and make any 
recommendations to the report before presenting to Cabinet. 

 

  5 - 46 

3. CHAIR'S REVIEW AND CLOSE   

 To reflect on the meeting and actions to be taken forward.  

   

4. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To consider any items, which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, is of the opinion should be considered at the meeting as 
a matter of urgency. 

 

   
Service Director of Democratic Services & Communication 
 
Circulation:- 
 
The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Education and Inclusion Scrutiny Committee 
(County Borough Councillor S Evans and County Borough Councillor K Webb 
respectively) 
 
County Borough Councillors:  
 
Councillor M Ashford, Councillor J Brencher, Councillor J Cook, Councillor J Elliott, 
Councillor S Emanuel, Councillor R Evans, Councillor S Hickman, 
Councillor C Lisles, Councillor M Maohoub, Councillor C Preedy, Councillor J Smith 
and Councillor D Wood 
 
Co-Opted Members:- 
 
Mr P Booth, Voting Diocesan Authorities Representative 
Mr M Cleverley, Representing NASUWT and Teachers’ Panel 
Ms A Jones, Representing UNITE 
Mr C Jones, Representing GMB 
Mrs R Lydon, Voting Elected Parent / Governor Representative 
Mr L Patterson, Voting Elected Parent / Governor Representative 
Mr D Price, Representing UNISON 
Mr M Thomas, Representing NEU 
Mr M Veale, Voting Elected Parent / Governor Representative 



 

 
 
 
 
 
Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is also available in Welsh 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MUNICPAL YEAR 2023-24 
 

EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

20TH JUNE 2023 
 

ESTYN’S REPORT ON EDUCATION SERVICES 
IN RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 

REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES AND 
COMMUNICATION 

 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1. To pre-scrutinise the inspection process and the outcomes of the Estyn 

inspection of the education services in Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council in January 2023. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that: 
 
2.1 Members undertake pre scrutiny of the report (attached at Appendix A 

& B), thus providing Scrutiny with an opportunity to comment upon this matter 
prior to consideration by the Cabinet. 
 

2.2. Consider areas identified, for future scrutiny and inclusion with the Committees 
future work programme. 

 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
3.1 To provide Scrutiny with the opportunity to undertake pre-scrutiny of the Estyn 

Inspection report, prior to its consideration by Cabinet. 
 

3.2 The need to provide Members with information on the outcome of the Estyn 
inspection, including areas of strength and development, and the opportunity to 
seek further clarification on any matters of interest. 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
4. BACKGROUND 
 
4.1. Estyn’s inspection of local authorities is informed by the Guidance handbook   

for the inspection of LGES 2022 (gov.wales). The handbook sets out the way 
in which Estyn conducts inspections of local government education services 
(LGES), which has changed significantly since our last core inspection in 2012. 
 

4.2. During the 2022 - 2023 Municipal Year Estyn undertook an inspection of the 
Education Services within Rhondda Cynon Taf, which concluded in January 
2023. 
 

4.3. The Cabinet report appended at Appendix A provides details of the inspection 
process which highlights the information gathering process undertaken in 
advance of the inspection, the citizen survey undertaken and advises upon the 
main forms of evidence captured as part of the inspection. This evidence 
included detail of the work undertaken by the Education & Inclusion Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 

4.4. The outcome of the inspection is detailed within the Estyn Inspection report 
appended as Appendix B to this document. It is Estyn’s expectation that the 
inspection report is scrutinised in full by the Education and Inclusion Scrutiny 
Committee, so that the necessary support and challenge can be provided about 
the Directorate’s plans for improvement. 

 
 
5. PRE-SCRUTINY 
 
5.1. Members are reminded that the purpose of pre scrutiny activity is to influence 

the decisions before they are made. The Education and Inclusion Services 
Scrutiny Committee continues to have the opportunity to explore and comment 
on a number of reports in advance of Cabinet’s consideration to bring a different 
perspective to the decisions made and enabling Cabinet decisions to be more 
informed. 
 

6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS/SOCIO-ECONOMIC DUTY 
 
6.1. An Equality Impact Assessment is not needed because the contents of this 

report are for information purposes only. 
 

7. WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS  
 
7.1. There are no Welsh language implications arising from this report. 

 
8. CONSULTATION/INVOLVEMENT 
 
8.1. The involvement of the Education and Inclusion Scrutiny Committee in the pre-

scrutiny exercise will contribute to the quality and robustness of Cabinet 
decision-making. 

Page 6

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2022-08/Guidance%20handbook%20for%20the%20inspection%20of%20LGES%202022.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2022-08/Guidance%20handbook%20for%20the%20inspection%20of%20LGES%202022.pdf


8.2. The Estyn Inspection report will also need to be considered by the Councils 
Governance and Audit Committee at a future meeting. 
 

9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
9.1. There are no financial implications aligned to this report. 

 
10. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 
 
10.1. The report has been prepared in accordance with paragraph Part 4 of the 

Constitution (Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules). 
 

11. CONCLUSION 
 
11.1. The undertaking of pre scrutiny by the Education and Inclusion Scrutiny 

Committee in respect of the Estyn’s report on Education Services in Rhondda 
Cynon Taf County Borough Council, will ensure that the Education and 
Inclusion Scrutiny Committee fully evaluates the effectiveness of its overview 
and scrutiny function. 

 
  

Page 7



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

 

as amended by 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
ESTYN’S REPORT ON EDUCATION SERVICES 

IN RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

20TH JUNE 2023 

 

REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR DEMOCRATIC SERVICES & 

COMMUNICATIONS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023/2024 

 
CABINET  

 
28TH JUNE 2023 

 

ESTYN’S REPORT ON EDUCATION SERVICES 
IN RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES IN 
DISCUSSION WITH THE CABINET MEMBER FOR EDUCATION, YOUTH 
PARTICIPATION AND THE WELSH LANGUAGE, COUNCILLOR RHYS LEWIS  
 
Author: Gaynor Davies, Director of Education and Inclusion Services 

 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide an overview of the inspection process 

and the outcomes of the Estyn inspection of the education services in Rhondda 
Cynon Taf County Borough Council in January 2023. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

2.1 Consider the information provided. 
 
2.2 Consider whether any further information is required on any aspect of the report 

or the work of the Education and Inclusion Services Directorate.  
 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 To provide Cabinet with information on the outcome of the Estyn inspection, 

including areas of strength and development, and the opportunity to seek 
further clarification on any matters of interest.  

 
 
 

Page 9



4. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
4.1 The last core inspection of Rhondda Cynon Taf Education Services was in 

March 2012 when Estyn judged Education to be ‘adequate’, with ‘adequate 
prospects for improvement.’   

 
4.2 In order to improve, Rhondda Cynon Taf Council was considered to require 

improvement in a number of key areas. Six key recommendations (R1-R6) 
were made, including:   

 
R1 Raise standards in schools particularly in key stage 4 
R2 Improve attendance rates in all schools 
R3 Improve the evaluation and analyses of data across service areas and 

partnerships to drive improvements in outcomes for learners  
R4 Use the full powers available to the authority to improve leadership and 

management in schools 
R5 Reduce surplus places  
R6 Improve the rigour and the level of scrutiny and challenge across all 

services and partnerships. 
 
4.3 As consequence of this inspection, the local authority was placed in a follow- 

up category of Estyn Monitoring.  
 
4.4 Following a series of follow-up visits from Estyn, the local authority was judged 

to have made sufficient progress. In August 2014, Estyn provided formal 
confirmation that the local authority no longer required further follow- up activity 
due to the progress made.  

 
5. INSPECTION PROCESS 
 
5.1 Estyn’s inspection of local authorities is informed by the Guidance handbook   

for the inspection of LGES 2022 (gov.wales). The handbook sets out the way 
in which Estyn conducts inspections of local government education services 
(LGES), which has changed significantly since our last core inspection in 2012.   

 
5.2 A summary of the legal basis and policy background for the inspection of LGES 

is provided in Section 10 of this report.  
 
5.3 The inspection of LGES is undertaken by a team of inspectors. The reporting 

inspector (RI) is responsible for the conduct and management of the inspection, 
for ensuring that all team members adopt a consistent approach to the 
inspection process and the inspection report.  

 
5.4 The principles of an Estyn inspection are to: 

• ensure that inspection is of high quality and responds to the needs of all 
learners   

• ensure that judgements are secure, reliable and valid   

• involve the local authority fully in the inspection process, including the use 
of nominees  

Page 10

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2020-08/Inspection%2520report%2520Rhondda%2520Cynon%2520Taf%2520County%2520Borough%2520Council%2520Eng%25202012_0.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2020-08/Outcome%2520of%2520monitoring%2520visit%2520Rhondda%2520Cynon%2520Taf%2520County%2520Borough%2520Council%25202014_0.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2020-08/Outcome%2520of%2520monitoring%2520visit%2520Rhondda%2520Cynon%2520Taf%2520County%2520Borough%2520Council%25202014_0.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2022-08/Guidance%20handbook%20for%20the%20inspection%20of%20LGES%202022.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2022-08/Guidance%20handbook%20for%20the%20inspection%20of%20LGES%202022.pdf


• use the local authority’s self-evaluation and improvement planning work as 
the starting point for the inspection and to inform questions about 
education services  

• include peer inspectors in the inspection process  

• keep to a minimum any requirements for documentation and preparation 
by the local authority  

• evaluate evidence about the perspective of children and young people and 
other stakeholders 

• apply the principle of equality for Welsh and English to all inspection work, 
providing bilingual services in line with the practices of the local authorities 
inspected.  

• be constructive in identifying and supporting local authorities with important 
areas for improvement  

• contribute to joint assessments and reports with other inspection, audit and 
regulatory bodies as required by Welsh Government legislation. 

 
5.5 The LGES Inspection Framework is underpinned by three inspection areas, 

namely:   
 

Inspection area 1 – Outcomes 
Standards and progress overall 
Standards and progress of specific groups 
Well-being and attitudes to learning 
 
Inspection area 2 – Education Services 
Support for school improvement 
Support for vulnerable learners  
Other education support services  
 
Inspection area 3 – Leadership and management 
Quality and effectiveness of leaders and managers 
Self-evaluation and improvement planning 
Professional learning 
Safeguarding arrangements 
Use of resources 
 

5.6 Inspectors do not inspect or evaluate all education services during a core 
inspection. After reviewing key documentation from the local authority, such as 
performance reports to elected members, strategic plans and intelligence 
gathered from local authority link inspectors (LALIs), inspectors choose specific 
aspects of education services to evaluate during the core inspection.  

 
Inspectors do this by drafting ‘local inspection questions’ which are then duly 
shared with the local authority and feedback is sought. The final decision about 
the wording and focus of the local questions is made by Estyn. In the local 
authority inspection in Rhondda Cynon Taf, the following local inspection 
questions (LIQs) were highlighted for further exploration: 

 
 
 

Page 11



LIQ1: How effective is the challenge, support and intervention in improving 
the quality of teaching and leadership in schools and PRUs? 

 
LIQ2: How effective is the local authority working with its communities to 

support the most vulnerable learners and what impact is this having, 
for example on improving attendance, well-being and engagement? 

 
LIQ3: How well does the local authority meet the needs of pupils with ALN? 
 
LIQ4: To what extent does the local authority consider appropriately the 

educational benefits and risks of its school organisation proposals? 
 
5.7 Some seven weeks prior to the inspection, a citizen survey is launched to seek 

stakeholder views about education services, including the local inspection 
questions. A month prior to the inspection, all local authority supporting 
evidence is uploaded to the virtual inspection room in preparation for the 
inspection.  

 
5.8 This is followed by meetings with key stakeholders some two weeks prior to the 

inspection. These preliminary activities include virtual meetings with a wide 
range of stakeholders including headteachers, multi-agency partners, children 
and young people, parent/carer representatives and trade unions. A timetable 
of extensive meetings is then planned for the inspection week to enable Estyn 
to gather views about the performance of education services.  

 
5.9 At the start of local authority inspections, the inspection team has an opportunity 

to meet senior officers, including the chief executive and director of education, 
and senior elected members, including the leader, cabinet member for 
education and chair of scrutiny. The local authority nominee is also part of this 
meeting. This provides an opportunity for the director of education, in 
partnership with the chief executive, the leader of the Council and the cabinet 
member for education to present some contextual information to the inspection 
team and highlight the main strengths and areas for improvement in education. 
Following this meeting, lead officers are also provided with an opportunity to 
present some contextual information on the local inspection questions before 
the commencement of more formal meetings with a wide range of officers, 
elected members and key stakeholders.  

 
5.10 The main forms of evidence for a local authority inspection include:  
 

• the authority’s self-evaluation of education services  

• data on education outcomes in the local authority, including local data 
provided by the local authority  

• briefings from link inspectors for the local authority and the link inspector 
for the relevant regional consortium  

• briefings from Audit Wales, Care Inspectorate Wales, and other 
inspectorates where relevant  

• documentary evidence, including reports to cabinet, council and scrutiny  

Page 12



• the views of children, young people, parents and other stakeholders such 
as staff in LGES, schools and partner organisations (including the findings 
of any of our relevant surveys and questionnaires)  

• interviews with senior leaders, officers and elected members  

• interviews with senior leaders from the relevant regional consortium and 
other relevant partnerships  

• interviews with officers and other stakeholders who helped inspectors to 
address the local inspection questions. 

 
5.11 Towards the end of the inspection, the team formally moderate and agree all 

judgements together. Under the current inspection process, inspectors no 
longer make summative judgements for each inspection area but inspection 
teams are expected to make a summative judgement about whether or not a 
local authority is a cause for significant concern.  

 
5.12 It is Estyn’s expectation that the inspection report is scrutinised in full by the 

Education and Inclusion scrutiny committee, so that the necessary support and 
challenge can be provided about the Directorate’s plans for improvement.  

 
6. SUMMARY OF ESTYN’S FINDINGS  
 
6.1 The inspection of education services in the local authority was a very positive 

one with many strengths highlighted, and three recommendations for 
improvement made. The report was published on  Estyn’s website on the 31st 
of March 2023 and can be found on Estyn’s website and at Appendix 1 of this 
report.  

 
6.2 The Estyn report is very positive and provides a comprehensive overview of the 

inspection findings, including the Directorate’s strengths, areas for 
improvement and recommendations.  

 
A concise summary of Estyn’s key findings is also detailed in the published 
report and is extracted in full below. Areas of strength are highlighted in bold 
and areas for development are underlined for ease of reference:   

 

Leaders in Rhondda Cynon Taf education services provide clear 

and purposeful leadership. They are committed to ensuring that 

children and young people achieve their very best. The leader, 

chief executive, cabinet member for education, elected members 

and senior staff in the education directorate have set high 

expectations for their officers, schools and providers. All officers 

have a clear understanding of their roles and responsibilities and 

are empowered to take action to provide valuable services to 

improve outcomes for children and young people across the 

authority. 

Leaders in the local authority make their decisions carefully, 

based on how best to serve their different communities and to 

meet individual needs. For example, the council makes effective 

Page 13



use of a wide range of data and information when considering 

school reorganisation and planning. This means that school 

organisation proposals take good account of the needs of the 

school’s community and promote equity of provision for pupils. 
However, improving provision for Welsh, for example through late 

immersion opportunities, specialist ALN provision and improving the 

outcomes for Welsh in English-medium schools, is at an early stage of 

development. 

Generally, inspection outcomes over time have been sound 

within the local authority. Since we resumed inspection in 

February 2022, we asked three primary schools to provide case 

studies of good practice, one primary school requires special 

measures, and another primary school was placed into Estyn review. 

The director and her senior team work pro-actively in partnership 

with Central South Consortium (CSC), the school improvement 
service. The local authority shares explicitly its high expectations 

of the work of the regional consortium. For example, the local 

authority is clear about how CSC should support its strategic 

priorities and directs improvement partners to gather the first-

hand evidence required by the local authority. Overall, the quality 

of support and the information provided by the CSC is too variable. 

The local authority places a high priority on supporting its most 

vulnerable children and young people to improve their outcomes, 

well-being and life chances and provides helpful support for 

schools to improve these pupils’ attendance and behaviour. Over 

time, the attendance of pupils in Rhondda Cynon Taf has been lower 

than national figures and the attendance of those pupils who are 

eligible for free school meals has remained low. 

The local authority has provided particularly helpful support to 

its schools and settings to prepare for the additional learning 

needs (ALN) reforms. Staff have benefited from a broad range of 

professional learning to improve their understanding of how to 

identify individual needs. A particular strength has been the way 

in which staff have been supported to develop their 

understanding of person-centred planning and individual 

development plans. Overall, support for additional learning 

needs is strong. 

Across the directorate, senior officers and their staff are 

committed to continuously improving the service they provide. 

They strive to identify and support future leaders and provide a 

very helpful leadership development professional learning 

programme. 

A notable strength is the way in which this has supported 

succession planning and improvements in leadership across the 

Page 14



local authority and its schools. The director and her senior team 

have developed a clear programme for evaluation and 

improvement, which supports all officers to have a suitable 

overview of their areas of responsibility. Despite this, self-

evaluation and improvement planning processes often lack precision. 

In particular, officers do not always identify clear indicators of success, 

and this hinders their ability to evaluate their work precisely and to plan 

for future improvements. 

Leaders in the directorate support staff very well. A particular 
strength is the way they provide officers with the autonomy to 
make decisions about how best to support schools and settings. 
Staff feel valued and well-informed of the direction and vision for 
improvement in the local authority. Over time, this has supported 
the local authority effectively to incrementally improve the 
services they provide. 

6.3 The published report provides a comprehensive review of all findings, with 
multiple references to areas of strength and considerably fewer references to 
areas for improvement. Nevertheless, there is a clear commitment to ensuring 
that the Directorate continues on its improvement journey and to ensuring that 
we continue to further develop the services that we provide for our children and 
young people, our schools and communities.  

 

6.4 Areas identified for improvement had in the main been identified through prior 

self- evaluation and will continue to form an important part of our improvement 

plans and a clear focus for critical self-evaluation.  

 

6.5 Improvement work to refine and further improve self-evaluation processes has 

been ongoing but there is a need to further streamline and simplify processes. 

Moving forward, the Directorate’s Delivery Plan will be better informed by 

enhanced performance measures and success criteria. Given the suspension 

of a number of national performance indications the Directorate has less local, 

regional and national data to draw upon so creativity will be required. Greater 

focus will also be placed on aligning the service plans that sit below the 

Directorate’s Delivery Plan (Recommendation 1). 

 

6.6 Delivery planning and partnership approaches to the WESP have improved 

significantly, with a member of the senior management team in Education 

leading on each of the seven strategic outcomes. There are some exciting 

developments underway to extend Welsh medium learning support class 

provision for learners with ALN and a small team of staff to support Welsh 

language immersion has now been appointed (Recommendation 2).  

 

6.7 Work aimed at improving attendance and reducing exclusions remain a core 

focus of our work and includes continued enhanced investment through family 

engagement and STEP 4 provisions (Recommendation 3).  

 

Page 15



7. INNOVATIVE AND EFFECTIVE PRACTICE  

 

7.1 Estyn considered that there was particularly strong practice in two key areas 

and invited the local authority to prepare a case study for innovative and 

effective practice. One case study was in relation to our use of data to inform 

planning and decision making. The second, was on professional learning for 

leadership. The impact of work in these areas of provision and standards was 

considered to be very effective.  

 

7.2 A case study on our innovative and effective use of data is now available on the 

Estyn website. An extract is provided below 

 

‘The availability of live data from 115 schools, across up to 30 services 

with over 500 users, enables officers to access an extensive range of 

relevant and up-to date information. The Education Directorate now 

has live overviews of a broad range of interactive data.  

 

This information and data is central to all strategic planning and 

delivery across the Education Directorate, including school re-

organisation proposals, service self-evaluation, service review and 

performance management. Reports to Cabinet and Scrutiny meetings 

are well informed through access to live datasets.  

 

The local authority uses a broad range of information, including 

demographic trends, birth data and housing developments to consider 

school capacities and admissions carefully.  

 

Access to relevant data was crucial in supporting the Covid response. 

Vulnerable learner identification, particularly where there were 

associated issues, were targeted well for wellbeing provision and 

visits, and other support. Cross directorate work with colleagues in 

Children’s Services ensured that schools possessed up to date data 

on vulnerable learners in their schools according to different 

categories of vulnerability.  

 

With staff now working in an agile manner, access to operational data 

on a suitable device has become essential. Attendance and Wellbeing 

staff now have access to attendance data on their smartphones and 

use this to support and challenge schools in a timely manner.’ 

 

7.3 Estyn were also complimentary about our investment in leadership 

programmes and the professional learning offer that was made available to 

aspiring leaders within schools and the local authority. An extract from the case 

study of innovative and effective practice is available on Estyn’s website and is 

provided below.  

 

Page 16



‘Leadership across the directorate is strong and effective. The broad 

range of training has supported leaders at all levels to develop a range 

of skills. They lead well by example and have secured effective 

improvements across the directorate. For example, the school 

improvement team have strengthened the way in which they challenge 

and support the regional consortium to improve the support for their 

schools. The local authority aspiring school leaders programme is well 

regarded by school leaders and has supported the growth and 

development of these participants well. All of the staff who engaged in 

the recent programme have secured leadership posts.’ 

 
8. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR IMPROVEMENT 
 
8.1 Estyn identified three key recommendations which are detailed below: 

 

R1:   Sharpen approaches to self-evaluation and improvement planning 

R2: Strengthen approaches to Welsh-medium education, for example by 

improving access and support for learners with additional learning needs 

and providing opportunities for late immersion for learners 

R3: Work closely with schools, pupil referral units and the regional 

consortium to build on the local authority’s work to further improve 

attendance and reduce exclusions 

 

9. NEXT STEPS 
 
9.1 The recommendations made by Estyn will be a strong focus for improvement 

during 2023 and beyond and will be reflected in our delivery plans and 
improvement actions for 2023-24.  

 
10. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS / SOCIO-ECONOMIC DUTY 
 
10.1 An Equality Impact Assessment is not currently required - the content of the 

report is for information purposes only. 
 
11. WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The report highlights specific recommendations relating to the development of 

Welsh language provision and these will be addressed as part of ongoing 
improvement planning and delivery.  

 
12. CONSULTATION  
 
12.1 There is no requirement to undertake any consultation 
 
13. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
13.1 There are no financial implications aligned to this report. 
 

Page 17



14. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED  
 
14.1  The inspection of local government education services (LGES) is carried out 

under Section 38 of the Education Act 1997 which specified that His Majesty’s 
Chief Inspector of Education and Training in Wales (HMCI) ‘may, and, if 
requested to do so by the Secretary of State, shall, arrange for any local 
authority to be inspected’. Such an inspection ‘shall consist of a review of the 
way in which the authority are performing any function which relates to the 
provision of education for (a) persons of compulsory school age (whether at 
school or otherwise) or (b) for persons of any age above or below that age who 
are registered as pupils at schools maintained by the authority.’  

 
14.2 Other aspects of local authority provision are subject to inspection under a 

range of legislation, including the functions conferred on them under sections 
25 and 26 of the Learning and Skills Act 2000 relating to education, training or 
youth support services (within the meaning of section 123 of the Learning and 
Skills Act 2000).  
 

14.3 HMCI may, under Section 41 of the Education Act 1997, as amended by the 
Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004, request Audit Wales to assist with any inspection 
under Section 38. Audit Wales contributes to those inspections of local 
authorities in which their expertise will add to the rigour and effectiveness of the 
inspection. Audit Wales contribute to the regular collection and analysis of local 
authority performance data as partners in the inspection of local authorities,  

 
14.4 The inspection of local authority education services for children and young 

people covers the statutory functions of the local authority, including the local 
authority youth service. In addition, it includes inspection of the partnership 
arrangements for youth support services. These partnership arrangements are 
those led by the local authority to plan, co-ordinate and oversee all youth 
support services in an area. These partnership arrangements are set out in the 
Learning and Skills Act 2000, and the Welsh Government policy as described 
in Extending Entitlement and associated guidance. Under the Children Act 
2004, this statutory responsibility for partnership planning can be fulfilled 
through a young people's partnership, children and young people’s partnership 
or a framework partnership.  
 

14.5 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and Local Government 
(Wales) Act 2015 support the approach and arrangements for the inspection of 
local authorities either by individual inspectorates or jointly between Estyn, 
Audit Wales and Care Inspectorate Wales.  

 
14.6 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations in this 

report. 
 
15. LINKS TO THE COUNCIL’S CORPORATE PLAN/OTHER CORPORATE 

PRIORITIES/SIP 
 
15.1 This is an information report presenting an overview of the recent Estyn 

inspection of the local authority’s education services. There are clear links 

Page 18



associated to the Corporate Plan 2020-24 and indeed the Education Strategic 
Plan for 2022-25 which places a clear emphasis on improving schools in 
Rhondda Cynon Taf and realising our Mission of Achieving Equity and 
Excellence in Education and Enhanced Wellbeing for All.  

 
16. STRATEGIC OR RELEVANT TO ELECTORAL WARDS 
 
16.1 This report relates to all electoral wards.  

 
17. CONCLUSION 
 
17.1 It is hoped that Cabinet Members consider themselves to be well informed and 

have a clear understanding of Estyn’s processes and procedures for inspecting 
a local authority, as well as the strengths and areas for development for the 
Education Directorate as a result of its most recent inspection by Estyn. 

 
17.2 The Directorate will ensure that the key areas for improvement will be a priority 

for further development in our annual delivery plans and a strong focus for our 
ongoing self-evaluation and improvement planning processes.  

 
 
 
Other Information:- 
 
Relevant Scrutiny Committee 
Education and Inclusion Services Scrutiny 
 
Contact Officer 
Gaynor Davies, Director of Education and Inclusion Services  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

AS AMENDED BY 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CABINET 

28TH JUNE 2023 

 
 
 

Item:  ESTYN’S REPORT ON EDUCATION SERVICES IN RHONDDA CYNON 
TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Background Papers 
Inspection report Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 2023 (gov.wales) 

 

 

 

Officer to contact:   
Gaynor Davies, Director of Education and Inclusion Services 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 20

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2023-03/Inspection%20report%20Rhondda%20Cynon%20Taf%20County%20Borough%20Council%202023_0.pdf


Appendix 1: 
 
Inspection report Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 2023 (gov.wales) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2023-03/Inspection%20report%20Rhondda%20Cynon%20Taf%20County%20Borough%20Council%202023_0.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



A report on education services in 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 

The Pavillions 
Cambrian Park 
Clydach Vale 
Tonypandy 

Rhondda Cynon Taf 
CF40 2XX 

Date of inspection:  January 2023 

by 

Estyn, His Majesty’s Inspectorate for Education 

and Training in Wales

This report is also available in Welsh.

Page 23

https://www.estyn.llyw.cymru/arolygu/adroddiad-arolygiad-cyngor-bwrdeistref-sirol-rhondda-cynon-taf-2023


A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

1 

About Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 

Rhondda Cynon Taf has a total of 38,497 pupils across 115 schools, which include 
17 Welsh medium, 96 English medium and two dual language schools.  

Over a three-year average, 24.0% of pupils aged 5 to 15 are eligible for free school 
meals, higher than the Wales average of 23%.  

The local authority’s last inspection was in March 2012, with follow-up visits in 
December 2013, March 2014 and June 2014.  

In 2022-23, the local authority’s education budget is £269,729,000. The delegated 
school budget per pupil in 2022-23 is £4,925, slightly lower than the Wales average 
of £5,032.  

Inspectors take account of a wide range of information about the local population 
when evaluating outcomes and the quality of education services. They consider this 
information alongside information about the national population. Some of the most 
useful information about children and young people in Rhondda Cynon Taf is noted 
below: 

• 6.2% of pupils aged 5 to 15 are from ethnic minorities, lower than the Wales 
average of 13.3%.  

• 0.9% of pupils aged 5 to 15 have additional learning or special educational needs 
(School Action). 

• 1.7% of pupils aged 5 to 15 have additional learning or special educational needs 
(School Action Plus).  

• 3.4% of pupils aged 5 to 15 have additional learning or special educational needs 
(Statemented). 

• 0.2% of pupils aged 5 to 15 have additional learning or special educational needs 
(Individual Development Plan).  

• 1.4% of pupils aged 5 to 15 have English as an additional language (A, B or C).  
• 16.1% of pupils aged 5 or over are fluent in Welsh, higher than the Wales 

average of 15.6%.  

 

Page 24



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

2 

Summary 

Leaders in Rhondda Cynon Taf education services provide clear and purposeful 
leadership. They are committed to ensuring that children and young people achieve 
their very best. The leader, chief executive, cabinet member for education, elected 
members and senior staff in the education directorate have set high expectations for 
their officers, schools and providers. All officers have a clear understanding of their 
roles and responsibilities and are empowered to take action to provide valuable 
services to improve outcomes for children and young people across the authority. 

Leaders in the local authority make their decisions carefully, based on how best to 
serve their different communities and to meet individual needs. For example, the 
council makes effective use of a wide range of data and information when 
considering school reorganisation and planning. This means that school organisation 
proposals take good account of the needs of the school’s community and promote 
equity of provision for pupils. However, improving provision for Welsh, for example 
through late immersion opportunities, specialist ALN provision and improving the 
outcomes for Welsh in English-medium schools, is at an early stage of development. 

Generally, inspection outcomes over time have been sound within the local authority. 
Since we resumed inspection in February 2022, we asked three primary schools to 
provide case studies of good practice, one primary school requires special measures, 
and another primary school was placed into Estyn review.  

The director and her senior team work pro-actively in partnership with Central South 
Consortium (CSC), the school improvement service. The local authority shares 
explicitly its high expectations of the work of the regional consortium. For example, 
the local authority is clear about how CSC should support its strategic priorities and 
directs improvement partners to gather the first-hand evidence required by the local 
authority. Overall, the quality of support and the information provided by the CSC is 
too variable.  

The local authority places a high priority on supporting its most vulnerable children 
and young people to improve their outcomes, well-being and life chances and 
provides helpful support for schools to improve these pupils’ attendance and 
behaviour. Over time, the attendance of pupils in Rhondda Cynon Taf has been 
lower than national figures and the attendance of those pupils who are eligible for 
free school meals has remained low. 

The local authority has provided particularly helpful support to its schools and 
settings to prepare for the additional learning needs (ALN) reforms. Staff have 
benefited from a broad range of professional learning to improve their understanding 
of how to identify individual needs. A particular strength has been the way in which 
staff have been supported to develop their understanding of person-centred planning 
and individual development plans. Overall, support for additional learning needs is 
strong. 

Across the directorate, senior officers and their staff are committed to continuously 
improving the service they provide. They strive to identify and support future leaders 
and provide a very helpful leadership development professional learning programme. 

Page 25



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

3 

A notable strength is the way in which this has supported succession planning and 
improvements in leadership across the local authority and its schools. The director 
and her senior team have developed a clear programme for evaluation and 
improvement, which supports all officers to have a suitable overview of their areas of 
responsibility. Despite this, self-evaluation and improvement planning processes 
often lack precision. In particular, officers do not always identify clear indicators of 
success, and this hinders their ability to evaluate their work precisely and to plan for 
future improvements.  

Leaders in the directorate support staff very well. A particular strength is the way they 
provide officers with the autonomy to make decisions about how best to support 
schools and settings. Staff feel valued and well-informed of the direction and vision 
for improvement in the local authority. Over time, this has supported the local 
authority effectively to incrementally improve the services they provide. 

  

Page 26



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

4 

Recommendations 

R1 Sharpen approaches to self-evaluation and improvement planning 

R2 Strengthen approaches to Welsh-medium education, for example by improving 
access and support for learners with additional learning needs and providing 
opportunities for late immersion for learners. 

R3 Work closely with schools, pupil referral units and the regional consortium to 
build on the local authority’s work to further improve attendance and reduce 
exclusions 

What happens next 

Following the publication of the inspection report, the local authority should update its 
plans to address the recommendations and to take account of shortcomings 
identified through the inspection process. The local authority should update its plans 
within three months of the publication of the inspection report. 

Estyn will invite the provider to prepare a case study on its work in relation to its use 
of data to inform planning and decision making and its professional learning for 
leadership for dissemination on Estyn’s website. 

  

Page 27



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

5 

Main findings 

Outcomes 

We are unable to provide a full evaluation of outcomes. This is due to the impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, which caused the suspension of inspections of schools and 
most other education providers since March 2020. It is also due to the lack of data 
about outcomes that can be compared over time as the pandemic caused changes to 
the way that qualifications were awarded and affected most other data that we 
consider when making evaluations, such as school attendance, school exclusions 
and post-16 learner destinations.  

Any evaluations that follow provide a context by reporting on outcomes before the 
pandemic or relate to more recent outcomes where the evidence base is valid and 
reliable.  

Between September 2017 and March 2020, we inspected 44 schools and two PRUs. 
We judged that standards were good in 26 primary schools and adequate in ten 
primary schools. Six of these were placed into Estyn review, one into significant 
improvement and one was judged to require special measures. Of the two all-age 
schools, we judged standards be good in one and unsatisfactory in the other and in 
need of significant improvement. In secondary schools, we judged standards to be 
excellent in one, good in three and adequate in two. One of these was placed into 
Estyn review and the other was placed into significant improvement. We also judged 
that one PRU has excellent standards and the other unsatisfactory standards and 
this PRU was placed in special measures. All the schools placed into a follow-up 
category during this time period have since been removed.  

Since inspections resumed in February 2022, we have inspected twelve primary 
schools and one all-age school. We asked three primary schools to provide case 
studies of good practice, but one primary school requires special measures and 
another primary school was placed into Estyn review. 

Overall standards at the end of Key Stage 4 in the three years before the pandemic 
were generally in line with national averages, although outcomes in around half of 
secondary schools were variable during this time. Outcomes for those pupils that are 
eligible for free school meals in the three years before the pandemic were generally 
below national averages.  

Over time, outcomes of inspections of non-maintained nursery settings have broadly 
been sound when considering both pupils’ progress and well-being. 

Outcomes from Estyn inspection reports between September 2017 and March 2020 
show that pupils’ well-being and attitudes to learning were good or excellent in many 
schools. This proportion was slightly lower than the Wales average.  

Between 2017 and 2019, attendance in primary and secondary schools declined 
overall. In five of the 13 secondary schools, attendance was below expectations for 
three years. In secondary schools during this period, persistent absence increased at 
a greater rate than nationally. The rate of persistent absence in primary schools 

Page 28



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

6 

remained broadly in line with national figures. The attendance of pupils eligible for 
free school meals was lower than that of their peers and, in primary schools, it was at 
least as good as the Wales average but below the Wales average in secondary 
schools.  

Over the period from 2017 to 2019, the rate of permanent exclusions was broadly in 
line with the national average. There was an increase in the rate of fixed-term 
exclusions of five days or less over the same time period and the rate remained 
higher than the national average.   

The number of young people who are not in education, employment or training 
(NEET) has broadly been in line with the average for Wales over the past three 
years.   

Young people participate positively and develop their leadership skills when planning 
events such as ‘Aberdare Pride’. This demonstrates the strong commitment of these 
young people to promoting equality and diversity throughout their community.  

Young people access a wide range of services provided by the local authority to help 
with their mental and emotional health. For example, over the last three years, a 
large number of young people demonstrated an improvement in their levels of well-
being following counselling sessions. 

Through the Youth Engagement and Participation Service (YEPS), young people 
have influenced positive change in their local community. For example, they have 
been instrumental in creating digital benches, which provide safe spaces where 
young people can socialise with their peers. The young people involved in developing 
this provision have benefited from opportunities to improve their communication, 
planning and practical skills. 

An example of Youth Engagement and Participation work 

As part of their work to re-engage young people who have been anti-social in their 
local community, the YEPS service have worked with young people from across 
the local authority to develop digital benches in local communities. These benches 
provide a place where young people can socialise, charge their mobile phones and 
promote positive behaviour. The young people involved in this programme have 
developed new skills and been helped to build positive relationships with adults 
and their peers.  

A video about these digital benches can be found here 
https://youtu.be/rj4snCKJ5OQ 

A large number of young people also benefit from one-to-one support and youth club 
provision provided by YEPS, which helps them to improve their resilience, well-being 
and mental health.   

  

Page 29

https://youtu.be/rj4snCKJ5OQ


A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

7 

Education services 

How effective is the challenge, support and intervention in improving the 
quality of teaching and leadership in schools and PRUs? 

During the COVID-19 pandemic and the following recovery period, the local authority 
provided exceptionally strong support for its schools and PRUs. It strengthened 
significantly its relationship and communication with school leaders. When safe to do 
so, officers frequently visited schools and PRUs, and this enabled them to develop a 
deep understanding of providers’ specific contexts and the challenges they faced. 
Importantly, these first-hand experiences also contributed to the local authority’s 
ongoing work to refine its information gathering to support effective school 
improvement.  

The local authority has very effective data systems to capture intelligence about 
schools and PRUs from across different service areas, such as finance and human 
resources. Officers have also established several helpful fora, such as the ‘All 
Schools Progress Review’, where this data is used to support focused improvement 
discussions about schools and PRUs. The information helps to develop the local 
authority’s knowledge of its schools and PRUs, enabling officers to identify emerging 
issues, such as fragility in leadership, in order to provide intervention.  

There are suitable procedures for monitoring and supporting schools and PRUs, 
including robust processes for reviewing those that are causing concern. The local 
authority tracks the progress of these schools and PRUs rigorously. It makes 
judicious use of its statutory powers, such as issuing pre-warning notices, to address 
urgent school performance issues. 

There is a well-established working partnership between the local authority and 
regional consortium. The local authority communicates explicitly its priorities for 
school improvement, as set out in its current education strategic plan. Senior leaders 
and officers work proactively with the regional consortium to tailor systems and 
processes to the needs of the local authority. For instance, they provide detailed 
feedback on the suitability of reporting processes for sharing information about the 
support and challenge the regional service provides to each school and PRU. As a 
result, there are now specific requirements for improvement partners to report on the 
effectiveness of a school’s or PRU’s self-evaluation and improvement planning 
processes, as well as the quality of teaching and leadership. 

Over time, senior leaders and officers have provided robust and timely challenge 
about the quality of the regional consortium’s support for school improvement and the 
effectiveness of improvement partners’ work. The local authority has high 
expectations. For instance, it requires improvement partners to evaluate accurately 
the quality of teaching and leadership through the gathering of first-hand evidence. 
Officers monitor the information in written reports carefully and, where needed, work 
in partnership with the consortium to suggest improvements. This has led to a greater 
level of helpful detail in the reports for schools causing concern. However, despite 
the local authority’s feedback, the quality of improvement partners’ reporting remains 
too variable. Often, they do not provide enough precise evaluative information, 
especially about teaching and its impact on pupils’ learning and progress. This is 
particularly the case in the reports for Welsh-medium schools. This makes it difficult 

Page 30



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

8 

for the local authority to have a full picture of the strengths and areas for 
improvement in these important aspects of schools’ and PRUs’ work. 

In partnership with the consortium, the local authority provides a wide range of 
beneficial opportunities for schools to share effective practice related to national 
priorities. There is a strong focus in local authority termly headteacher meetings on 
developing a shared understanding of pedagogy and assessment to support schools’ 
curriculum development.  

An example of sharing effective practice with schools 

In a local authority termly headteacher meeting, primary headteachers from eight 
schools involved in a collaborative project, facilitated by Central South Consortium, 
shared their experiences of rolling out the Curriculum for Wales with other senior 
leaders. This lively ‘market place’ event created an open forum for valuable 
discussion and support, as headteachers and local authority officers engaged in 
professional dialogue with teachers and pupils from the schools involved in the 
project. 

The local authority has longstanding networking arrangements between its schools. 
This enables schools and PRUs to collaborate and work efficiently on common areas 
for improvement and to access specialist subject support from the regional 
consortium. For example, schools in the Aberdare cluster work closely together to 
improve teaching and learning in mathematics across age phases. In many 
instances, professional learning for schools causing concern is targeted appropriately 
to develop their work in specific areas, such as improving pupils’ writing skills, based 
upon careful identification of need. However, in general, professional learning 
support is not always tailored specifically enough to the needs of other schools. This 
means that the impact of this support is too variable.  

The local authority prioritises the development of leadership in its schools and PRUs, 
and places a strong focus on this in its work with Central South Consortium. As a 
result, new and experienced leaders in schools and PRUs benefit from a range of 
opportunities to improve their skills. A particularly valuable aspect of the local 
authority’s support for leadership is the programme it provides for aspiring leaders. 
This provision is notable in two respects. Firstly, it is tailored very effectively to the 
specific needs of Rhondda Cynon Taf schools and PRUs and, secondly, officers use 
their knowledge of practitioners in the local authority to target prospective 
participants. The programme, which includes one-to-one coaching, is highly regarded 
by school leaders and has made an important contribution to succession planning 
across the authority.  

The local authority and regional consortium provide a useful complementary suite of 
learning opportunities and support for governors. During the pandemic, chairs of 
governing bodies attended termly meetings online with the director of education and 
inclusion services, and other senior officers. This new forum was well attended and 
has since continued to be a useful opportunity for information sharing and 
strengthening chairs of governors’ understanding of their roles and 
responsibilities. Provision, such as the helpful self-evaluation tool commissioned in 
partnership with the five local authorities across the region, targets specific 

Page 31



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

9 

governance needs in schools that are causing concern. Local authority clerking 
services support the development of governors’ skills well. 

How effective is the local authority working with its communities to support the 
most vulnerable learners and what impact is this having, for example on 
improving attendance, well-being and engagement? 

The local authority provided flexible and responsive operational support to schools 
and other education settings during the COVID-19 pandemic. This included a strong 
focus on supporting the most vulnerable learners and their families. Officers have 
since reflected on how they provided support to vulnerable learners during this 
period. As a result, the local authority has continued with aspects of the ways of 
working it developed during the pandemic where these were felt to have ongoing 
benefits to learners and their families. 

The local authority has a good understanding of the needs of individual learners and 
their vulnerabilities. This includes an understanding of their family and wider social 
context. For example, the local authority has the highest COVID-19 death rate in 
Wales and officers are very aware of families that were particularly affected and how 
this continues to impact on learners’ well-being.  

Officers that work in services supporting learners’ well-being access a wide range of 
useful data to inform their work. They use this data well to track and monitor learners’ 
well-being. For example, attendance and well-being officers can access live 
attendance data when visiting schools, which enables them to challenge and support 
schools appropriately. In addition, officers generally value the voice of vulnerable 
learners and their families and use their views to help evaluate and shape the 
development of services. 

There is a strong focus in the local authority on supporting children and their families 
before they reach statutory school age. Through a multi-agency approach with health 
partners and others, all children are offered a developmental screening check at 
around 20 months old. Following this, parents are supported well to promote their 
child’s speech and language through one-to-one and community programmes. 
Through the local authority’s Resilient Families Service, these parents are also 
offered a range of other helpful support to meet their needs. 

The local authority provides a range of valuable support services to meet the needs 
of vulnerable learners. For example, each cluster of schools is able to request a 
home visit for any absent learner that they feel is vulnerable without the need for 
attendance to be below a particular threshold. This encourages a preventive 
approach and allows support to be provided in a timely way. This approach is usually 
successful in supporting the learner to return to school by an agreed date.  

In addition to well-being visits and work with schools and PRUs, staff in the 
authority’s Attendance and Well-being Service work with individual families to 
encourage good attendance. A pilot intensive support programme for a small group 
of learners with extremely low attendance resulted in the majority of them gradually 
returning to school and attending reasonably regularly, and this approach is now 
being replicated with further groups. Despite using a range of useful approaches, 
attendance rates in the local authority for the current year are well below those in the 

Page 32



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

10 

years before the COVID-19 pandemic. Whilst this is common to varying extents 
across Wales, in the Autumn term 2022, the attendance of those pupils eligible for 
free school meals in secondary schools is notably lower than other pupils. 

The local authority historically provided direct support to individual learners whose 
behaviour at school was a concern. In order to prevent the need to exclude learners, 
officers now focus appropriately on building the capacity of school staff to build good 
relationships with learners and use effective approaches to manage challenging 
behaviour. The local authority also funds targeted schools to offer alternative 
provision for learners who are at risk of disengaging with their education. Although a 
few secondary schools have low rates of exclusions, the overall rate of exclusions in 
secondary schools in the Autumn term 2022 was similar to the rate in the three years 
before the pandemic, when the authority had one of the highest rates of exclusions in 
Wales. 

The local authority commissions an external independent counselling service that 
works with children from age 7 in both school and community settings. Overall, this 
service meets the needs of learners, who access this well. The local authority 
commissions additional helpful support for children in primary schools affected by 
loss and trauma. 

There is an increasing number of Family Engagement Officers who work out of 
individual schools and are receiving good support from the local authority. This 
partnership work is supporting greater use of schools as community hubs for a 
variety of beneficial services to support vulnerable learners and their families, such 
as access to food hampers, financial guidance, adult learning and parent and toddler 
groups.  

Youth services are used effectively in schools and communities to support young 
people across the local authority. They are particularly targeted in areas of greatest 
need, including communities that have few local facilities for young people. Youth 
workers in the YEPS support vulnerable young people well who are at risk of not 
being in education, employment or training. This support continues after statutory 
school age, helps young people to sustain their initial post-16 destination and, where 
this destination doesn’t work out, helps them re-engage with an alternative provision.  

The local authority has recently established a virtual school model for children that 
are looked after. However, it is too early to judge the overall impact of this on pupil 
outcomes. The local authority’s arrangements for monitoring the provision for 
looked after children, in out of county placements, is developing appropriately. For 
example, individual monitoring reports include a focus on the progress, well-being 
and learning experiences of pupils. However, processes to capture the views of 
pupils, their aspirations and their future plans are underdeveloped. 

  

Page 33



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

11 

How well does the local authority meet the needs of pupils with ALN?  

Over time, despite a recent reduction in the number of pupils on the SEN/ALN 
register, both the demand for ALN support has increased. Overall, the local authority 
has generally adapted to these changes well. The way in which services interact with 
schools and PRUs is now more responsive, with a clearer focus on both building 
capacity in schools and PRUs and, where appropriate, providing advice, support and 
guidance. In addition, the local authority has used the information it has to adapt and 
create new learning provisions and close those that are no longer required. 

The referrals process for local authority ALN services is generally clear and well 
understood by schools. However, this can be bureaucratic and place additional 
pressure on schools’ additional learning needs co-ordinators.   

The local authority has strengthened its ability to comply with the requirements of the 
new ALN legislation, for example by recruiting additional officers to work with schools 
and other settings. This is helping schools and other settings to develop systems to 
quality assure their work on, for example, person-centred practices and individual 
development plans. In addition, schools are becoming better placed to both identify 
and understand universal learning provision. Arrangements between the local 
authority, early years providers and partners have also been strengthened. Systems 
and procedures have been enhanced to help identify children that may have an 
additional learning need as early as possible. 

Over time, the local authority established learning support classes in around a 
quarter of mainstream schools. These cater for pupils with a broad range of 
additional learning needs. The local authority has taken broadly appropriate action to 
review provision, including ensuring that, where possible, pupils are able to transition 
between phases in the same school, thereby reducing movements to new settings. 
Many of the learning support classes are in the primary schools. Just under half of all 
classes are for pupils with autism and just over a third are for pupils with complex 
needs. However, the term ‘complex needs’ is not always understood well enough, 
and it is possible for pupils with different additional learning needs and abilities to be 
placed in these classes. 

To address the concerns around exclusions from school, the local authority has 
provided financial support to schools to develop provision for pupils that are at risk 
of exclusion. In addition to making ‘in-school’ provision, schools have secured 
provision for pupils with a range of external providers, for example to provide work 
experience placements for a few pupils. Schools report to the local authority’s 
governance group, but the frequency and quality of reporting by schools are too 
variable. As a result, the local authority is unable to fully evaluate the quality of the 
provision and the impact it has on pupils. Consequently, it is unclear if the approach 
provides value for money. 

The local authority provides a comprehensive range of very useful professional 
learning opportunities for school staff. These develop the knowledge and 
understanding of colleagues on a range of matters including, for example, provision 
mapping, inclusion for early years settings and legislation relevant to ALN. Despite 
very positive feedback on these opportunities, arrangements to consider the longer-
term impact of these are in the early stages of development. 

Page 34



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

12 

To what extent does the local authority consider appropriately the educational 
benefits and risks of its school organisation proposals? 

The local authority has successfully delivered a series of school reorganisation 
projects as part of the first band of the 21st century schools programme. Officers 
recognise school reorganisation priorities well. They use a good range of information 
sources, including building condition surveys and research evidence, and they 
forensically analyse a range of data to help inform their strategic decisions. School 
reorganisation plans link closely with the authority’s priorities in their Corporate Plan 
and the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP). The authority communicates 
clearly with various stakeholders about the roll-out of the school organisation 
programme as well as how they prioritise urgent repairs and maintenance. It 
addresses deficiencies in the school building stock, placing a suitable emphasis on 
health, safety and continuity of business. By investing in new schools and renovation 
projects, the overall standard of school buildings in the authority has improved over 
time. The authority is continuing with its improvement work and has increased 
planned investment to more than £270million. 

The local authority’s WESP 2022-2032 recognises the need to develop provision for 
Welsh in education across its providers and to be more proactive in their planning of 
school places to meet and stimulate the demand for Welsh-medium education. The 
local authority is developing a better understanding of which locations require support 
to help meet the demand for Welsh-medium education. It is gradually increasing the 
number of Welsh-medium nursery education settings through a combination of 
classes at maintained schools and a few non-maintained settings. Officers value the 
input of stakeholders such as Mudiad Meithrin and other organisations to help 
establish wrap-around arrangements when planning new schools. However, plans to 
establish dedicated late immersion provision to support pupils to access Welsh-
medium education at different entry points and plans to improve Welsh provision in 
English-medium schools are underdeveloped.  

The authority also recognises appropriately the need to increase Welsh-medium ALN 
provision to address the growing demand for specialist support for pupils. The 
opening of new Welsh-medium learning support classes at Ysgol Gartholwg and the 
new Ysgol Rhydyfelin will increase capacity for pupils with ALN in the Pontypridd 
area. However, current provision for full-time Welsh-medium specialist provision for 
pupils with ALN does not meet the demand across the whole authority. 

The authority has rationalised provision for post-16 education appropriately to ensure 
that young people have access to a more extensive range of academic and 
vocational courses and a range of high-quality facilities to support their studies. Plans 
for English-medium sixth form provision in the Pontypridd area are currently in 
development. The local authority is working with Welsh-medium schools to 
strengthen the bilingual academic and vocational learner entitlement for these post-
16 learners regardless of their location.  

The local authority is increasing the number of all-age schools where it deems this to 
be the most appropriate approach. It has reviewed and evaluated its current 
provision and used this information purposefully to inform its planning to meet the 
needs of the local communities. Newly appointed headteachers of these schools 

Page 35



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

13 

work alongside the reorganisation team for an extended period of time to strategically 
plan and prepare for the opening of the school. 

Leadership and management 

The leader of the council and the chief executive have high ambitions for children 
and young people and their families in Rhondda Cynon Taf and communicate their 
vision effectively. Elected members, including the cabinet member and the chair of 
the education and inclusion scrutiny committee, fully support the mission ‘To deliver 
equity and excellence in education and enhanced well-being for all’. Their strong 
commitment to responding to the needs of their local communities, and particularly 
reducing the impact of poverty, is reflected well in the priorities identified in the 
corporate plan, ‘Making a Difference’. The high aspiration for education is captured 
beneath the three main priorities of people, place and prosperity in the pledge ‘To 
ensure the local authority has good schools, so all children have access to a great 
education’. The corporate plan reflects relevant national and local priorities well, 
including the national well-being goals. 

Overall, elected members have a good understanding of the work of the education 
directorate and work purposefully with officers. Helpful reports enable them to 
understand the key issues clearly, for example regarding school organisation 
proposals, so they can make well-informed decisions. Elected members also 
demonstrate their commitment to the directorate’s priorities by thoughtful allocation of 
resources.  

Prior to the election in May 2022, the Children and Young People Scrutiny 
Committee had responsibility for scrutinising all public facing services working with 
children and young people, including children’s services. The newly formed 
Education and Inclusion Scrutiny Committee benefits from a smaller remit, which is 
now sharply focused on education and inclusion. As many of the committee 
members are new, the chair has wisely recognised the need to build the capacity of 
the group. She has done this through facilitating helpful contributions from a well-
considered range of officers and headteachers, whilst aligning the agenda well to the 
cabinet work programme. On the whole, members of the committee challenge 
appropriately and constructively the information presented and to consider suitably 
decisions to be taken by cabinet.  

The director shares successfully her ambitious vision for education and inclusion. Her 
commitment and that of her tight-knit senior team to the children and young people of 
Rhondda Cynon Taf is highly evident, as is their determination to deliver effectively 
and at pace. Officers at all levels and other partners, particularly schools and PRUs, 
feel supported and challenged to meet these high expectations. Since being in post, 
the director has reviewed structures and reframed responsibilities and lines of 
accountability in line with the key priorities. This has added capacity and sharpened 
the focus on important aspects such as attendance and well-being. Across the 
directorate, the roles and responsibilities of officers at all levels are well considered, 
appropriate and balanced. Officers work well collaboratively on cross-cutting priorities 
such as developing a highly skilled educational workforce and excellent leadership at 
all levels.  

Page 36



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

14 

Senior officers are highly knowledgeable about the aspects of the work that they 
lead. They consider carefully how best to meet local and community needs as well as 
national priorities. Their decisions are underpinned by access to a comprehensive 
data and intelligence system that enables them to monitor schools’ performance, 
respond swiftly to emerging issues and provide timely intervention.  

During the pandemic, the local authority developed a digital dashboard, which 
enables it to draw upon a large amount of ‘live’ data through integrated systems. This 
data suite provides officers with the means to identify emerging issues quickly and to 
plan appropriate actions for the medium and longer term. This information reinforces 
the very good knowledge of local communities that is held by officers. This 
combination of knowledge bases has supported effective planning of the authority’s 
significant investment through the Sustainable Communities for Learning fund. It also 
informs its work when addressing specific aspects, such as the directorate’s priority 
to enhance the well-being of learners and the workforce.  

When local authority officers have not had sufficient or suitably detailed information 
from the regional consortium, they have challenged the quality of reports robustly and 
outlined their specific requirements, revisiting the agreed arrangements with the 
school improvement service. As a result of the director’s intervention and high 
expectations, the quality of reporting is beginning to improve. 

The work of the directorate has ensured that outcomes for learners in Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, for both standards and well-being, are generally sound. Despite these 
strengths, the attendance of pupils eligible for free school meals has been identified 
by the local authority as a priority, as it is nationally. Officers have recently refreshed 
plans to tackle poor attendance. These now include innovative practices that were 
originally set up during the pandemic. Officers target helpful strategies at those most 
in need of support, such as deploying family engagement officers to work closely with 
vulnerable young people and their families.  

The local authority has identified broadly suitable actions to improve provision for 
Welsh-medium education through its WESP. In particular, it is beginning to consider 
how to improve access to late immersion for learners wishing to access their 
education through the medium of Welsh and to enable better support for learners 
with additional learning needs. In addition, through its school organisation plans, the 
local authority is increasing access to Welsh-medium provision in early years settings 
and maintained schools.. Work to improve Welsh provision in English-medium 
schools is underdeveloped. 

Elected members and senior officers have developed strong working relationships 
that facilitate effective knowledge sharing. Strategic plans are well aligned, and 
senior officers understand clearly the way in which the Education Strategic Plan’s five 
priorities support the delivery of the objectives in the Corporate Plan. 

The education directorate has outlined a helpful framework for Self-Evaluation, 
Monitoring and Review, which aligns with the corporate process and has been 
summarised well in a visual map. The directorate regularly evaluates its work using 
the elements in the framework. The local authority has identified well aspects of its 
work that were particularly effective during the pandemic and used these to shape 
current activity beneficially. Despite the clear commitment to self-review, the quality 

Page 37



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

15 

of evaluation and improvement planning is variable across the directorate. In a few 
instances self-evaluation focuses on the completion of actions rather than the impact 
of this work. As a consequence, this makes it difficult for officers to draw out the main 
strengths and areas for development with sufficient clarity or precision for these 
aspects of their work. 

Officers facilitate beneficial opportunities for a range of partners, including 
headteachers, to share their views and inform the strategic direction of the local 
authority. However, other stakeholders’ views are not always captured as 
successfully, for example the contribution of children and young people to the 
decision-making processes.  

Many priorities cross service area boundaries, such as the work to reduce the impact 
of poverty and promote equity in education. In general, officers across the directorate 
take responsibility well for their particular aspect of this work. The lack of coherence 
across team plans means that it is difficult to evaluate the individual contributions of 
service areas and to decide which are making the greatest impact to shared 
priorities. 

Performance management arrangements for individuals are sound. Officers value the 
support and challenge that the process provides, including the beneficial professional 
learning opportunities that they can access. The local authority has used the aspiring 
leaders programme notably well over time to support succession planning and 
nurture talent in its workforce. 

Across the local authority, the safeguarding of children and young people is a high 
priority. Leaders have developed a strong safeguarding culture where the safety of 
and well-being of children and young people are seen as everybody’s responsibility. 
This is reflected well in the local authority’s policies and day-to-day practice. The 
corporate safeguarding policy provides a strong framework for each service area and 
underpins its safeguarding practices. All employees and elected members receive 
safeguarding training upon appointment and at regular intervals.  

The leader of the council and chief executive both have a secure understanding of 
the local authority’s safeguarding responsibilities. The chief executive chairs the 
corporate safeguarding board. This group provides strong and effective governance. 
The local authority also works collaboratively with other local authorities as part of the 
Cwm Taf Morgannwg safeguarding board, for example to share good practice. There 
is strong education representation on this board. 

The local authority has a robust quality assurance process for corporate 
safeguarding. For example, each service area assesses the quality of their 
safeguarding practices as part of their annual self-evaluation processes.  

Safeguarding officers give schools and other providers a high level of support 
including beneficial training and regular written updates. School and PRU leaders 
appreciate the timely and valuable advice that is available to them and the multi-
agency safeguarding hub (MASH) also provides schools and PRUs with effective 
assistance.  

Page 38



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

16 

The local authority collects data from schools and PRUs on bullying and physical 
intervention on a regular basis. It analyses it thoroughly to determine trends. Officers 
understand the need to challenge schools and PRUs more effectively to ensure that 
there is greater consistency in the way that they record and report on all allegations 
of bullying. 

Funding for education is prioritised by the authority. For 2022-2023, the authority 
increased its spend per pupil for schools’ budgeted expenditure by 8.4%, a higher 
percentage increase than all other councils in Wales. The prioritisation of education 
funding is also reflected in the significant capital investment in school estates.  

The authority has a good track record of managing within its education budget and 
there were no schools in deficit at the end of 2021-2022. Where schools were in 
deficit prior to the pandemic, the authority effectively applied its scheme for schools’ 
financing and deficit protocol and overall schools’ deficits were reducing. 

The authority has a sound understanding of education budget issues and the 
financial position of individual schools. It makes good use of financial and other data 
to inform financial planning over the medium term. However, it does not routinely 
make use of comparative financial data with other local authorities to inform budget 
planning and monitoring. 

The authority provides strong support for schools’ financial management and 
planning, and schools are positive about the support provided. The authority provides 
a wide range of services to schools through service level agreements and there is a 
high level of take up of these services by schools. 

 

Page 39



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

17 

Appendix 1:  CASE STUDY OF INNOVATIVE OR EFFECTIVE PRACTICE 

Name of provider: Education and Inclusion Services 

Local authority: Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 

Contact person, email address & telephone number for further information:  
Catrin Edwards, Head of Service Transformation and Data Systems 

Number and age range of learners:  
n/a 

Website: https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk 

Date of Estyn inspection: January 2023 

Area of practice which has been identified during inspection: 
The use of data across the local authority to inform planning, decision making and 
support for schools 

Inspection area:  
IA1, IA2 

Context and background to the effective or innovative practice 

The development of management information systems (MIS) and the effective use 
of data and information have been central to the local authority’s improvement 
strategy.  In the last inspection in 2012, Estyn identified that the directorate needed 
to ‘‘improve the evaluation and analyses of data across service areas and 
partnerships to drive improvements in outcomes for learners’’. 

To support this, the local authority focused closely on: 

• establishing centralised MIS that facilitates easy access to extensive datasets 
which are routinely analysed for the purpose of self-evaluation and to drive 
improvement across local authority services and educational settings; 

• developing live datasets where at all possible, analysed in a timely manner to 
effectively identify underperformance and inform targeted interventions and 
improved outcomes; and 

• using data as a tool for strengthening cross directorate working, strategic 
planning, local authority and school partnerships. 

Description or nature of activity 

The Education and Inclusion Service integrated three management information 
systems and multiple data streams to create one, streamlined data system. This 
has provided a solid foundation for developing increasingly sophisticated datasets, 
dashboards and reporting capacity.  

Page 40



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

18 

This integrated system provides officers with immediate access to an extensive 
range of data and information relating to schools and services. This along with 
clear monitoring and evaluation processes enables the local authority to identify 
areas for improvement and respond rapidly.  

In order to secure this improvement, the local authority has: 

• strategically reviewed and evaluated systems and data sources;  
• ensured that data functions have been retained within one highly specialist 

Data Team;  
• recruited high quality graduates and apprentices via the Council’s award-

winning scheme, investing in their career progression and learning; 
• built in-house capacity, thereby reducing any reliance on external agencies 

and specialists so that services remain cost effective and efficient;  
• supported schools with their MIS systems, including daily system 

synchronisation and maintaining core data accuracy; 
• commissioned a single local authority pupil information system, supported 

and developed by the dedicated Education Data Team; 
• ensured the effective flow of information and data from schools, through the 

central system and into the appropriate reporting tools;  
• developed automated reporting to provide helpful information to support 

officers in identifying chronological and geographical patterns within 
datasets; and  

• improved more efficient communications and simple data collection 
approaches. 

What impact has this work had on provision and learners’ standards?  

The availability of live data from 115 schools, across up to 30 services with over 
500 users, enables officers to access an extensive range of relevant and up-to-
date information.  The Education Directorate now has live overviews of a broad 
range of interactive data.  

This information and data is central to all strategic planning and delivery across the 
Education Directorate, including school re-organisation proposals, service self-
evaluation, service review and performance management. Reports to Cabinet and 
Scrutiny meetings are well informed through access to live datasets. 

The local authority uses a broad range of information, including demographic 
trends, birth data and housing developments to consider school capacities and 
admissions carefully.  

Access to relevant data was crucial in supporting the Covid response. Vulnerable 
learner identification, particularly where there were associated issues, were 
targeted well for wellbeing provision and visits, and other support. Cross 
directorate work with colleagues in Children’s Services ensured that schools 
possessed up to date data on vulnerable learners in their schools according to 
different categories of vulnerability.  

With staff now working in an agile manner, access to operational data on a suitable 
device has become essential. Attendance and Wellbeing staff now have access to 

Page 41



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

19 

attendance data on their smartphones and use this to support and challenge 
schools in a timely manner. 

How have you shared your good practice? 

Support for Track, Trace and Protect teams during the pandemic enabled 
structured contact data to be provided directly from school systems in a format 
suitable for direct upload to Health Systems. This process was shared with all 
Welsh Authorities. RCT regularly act as the contact and a reference point for 
specific technical and strategic information and advice. The team are active 
contributors to Welsh User Groups, via MS Teams technology and since Covid 
recovery, through face-to-face demonstrations to other local authorities.  

  

Page 42



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

20 

Appendix 2:  CASE STUDY OF INNOVATIVE OR EFFECTIVE PRACTICE 

Name of provider: Education and Inclusion Services 

Local authority: Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 

Contact person, email address & telephone number for further information:  
Gaynor Davies, Gaynor.Davies@rctcbc.gov.uk.  

Website: https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk 

Date of Estyn inspection: January 2023 

Area of practice which has been identified during inspection: 

The development of future leaders in education through a strong professional 
learning offer and effective succession planning. 

Inspection area:  
IA3 

Context and background to the effective or innovative practice  

The local authority prioritises the professional development of both local authority 
and school staff well. They are committed to ‘growing their own’ leaders to support 
with succession planning and improvement. In response to challenges in recruiting 
high quality headteachers and senior leaders, the local authority provides a highly 
effective Aspiring Leaders Programme. This has been modelled on a well-
established  senior leadership programme for Council staff, and is research 
informed and focused clearly on leadership in practice. This programme has 
helped to accelerate the personal and professional development, and growth of 
future leaders for schools in RCT.  

The local authority also makes strong use of apprenticeship and graduate 
programmes to develop a highly skilled workforce. For example, the highly 
successful Graduate Scheme provides a two-year work placement and structured 
opportunities to develop management skills in a dynamic and varied organisation, 
coupled with a Level 4 Project Management Level Qualification.  

Description of nature of strategy or activity  

There is a strong culture in the Council of investing in the professional 
development of its staff. Planning for professional learning and development is 
directly linked to the delivery of the Council’s priorities, including the Corporate 
Plan and Education Strategic Plan.  

The local authority supports the development of aspiring school leaders well. They 
ensure that middle and senior leaders are offered a wide range of opportunities to 
develop and improve their leadership skills. The local authority’s Aspiring Leaders 
Programme is a particular strength. These programmes are planned and evaluated 

Page 43

mailto:Gaynor.Davies@rctcbc.gov.uk


A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

21 

effectively to meet aspiring leaders’ expectations and needs and are routinely 
adapted to ensure that they remain fit for purpose.  

The RCT Aspiring Leaders Programme is unique in both its design and delivery. 
The programme is planned in response to the specific needs of the cohort and 
local and national priorities. It has been particularly successful in promoting both 
the personal and professional growth of participants. It has supported effectively 
not only newly appointed leaders, but also the succession planning of senior 
leaders in all schools in RCT for the last decade.  

There is a strong culture of identifying and nurturing potential in employees and the 
local authority invests strongly in the development of their workforce. For example, 
local authority staff aspiring to management positions have access to a variety of 
structured learning opportunities including a broad range of leadership 
programmes.  

Since 2005, many Education staff have engaged in a range of leadership 
programmes and cross directorate projects, which include developing coaching 
and mentoring skills and engaging in collaborative research projects.  

These broad range of strategies have supported succession planning within the 
local authority well. Many former apprentices, graduates and trainees go on to 
secure permanent roles and leadership positions with the Council.  

What impact has this work had on provision and learners’ standards? 

Leadership across the directorate is strong and effective. The broad range of 
training has supported leaders at all levels to develop a range of skills. They lead 
well by example and have secured effective improvements across the directorate. 
For example, the school improvement team have strengthened the way in which 
they challenge and support the regional consortium to improve the support for their 
schools.  

The local authority aspiring school leaders programme is well regarded by school 
leaders and has supported the growth and development of these participants well. 
All of the staff who engaged in the recent programme have secured leadership 
posts. 

Useful links 
Apprenticeship Scheme & Graduate Programme | RCT - Rhondda Cynon Taf 
County Borough Council (rctcbc.gov.uk) 
RCT EET - Step In The Right Direction – YouTube     
 

Aspiring Leaders 
Programme RCT.doc 

  

Page 44

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/JobsandTraining/Jobs/ApprenticeshipsGraduateSchemes/ApprenticeshipSchemeGraduateProgramme.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/JobsandTraining/Jobs/ApprenticeshipsGraduateSchemes/ApprenticeshipSchemeGraduateProgramme.aspx
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OD1o4q8Wdxk&t=4s
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OD1o4q8Wdxk&t=4s


A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

22 

Evidence base of the report 

Before the inspection, inspectors: 

• consult the local authority on the local inspection questions to be used during the 
inspection, based on the authority’s self-evaluation, strategic plans and relevant 
data held by Estyn 

• analyse the outcomes from open questionnaires, including the views of learners, 
parents, school staff and governors, local authority staff, regional consortium 
staff, elected members and general public 

• carry out a preliminary visit to the local authority to meet with a range of relevant 
partners to education services, such as learner representatives, headteachers 
and governors, and leaders from statutory and third sector agencies working with 
children and young people 

During the inspection, inspectors normally: 

• meet with the leader of the council, elected members responsible for education 
services, elected members responsible for the scrutiny of education services, the 
chief executive, the director of education, other leaders and managers in 
education services, other relevant staff in the local authority, the managing 
director of the regional consortium for school improvement and other relevant 
staff from the regional consortium  

• look closely at the local authority’s self-evaluation processes 
• consider the local authority’s strategic and operational plans for improvement  
• scrutinise a variety of documents, including information on learner outcomes, 

information on the performance of schools and other education settings, 
including information from the regional consortium for school improvement, 
minutes from a range of meetings, reports presented to council or scrutiny, 
information relating to the safeguarding of learners and any other information 
relevant to the local authority’s education services held by Estyn  

After the on-site inspection and before the publication of the report, Estyn:  

• review the findings of the inspection alongside the supporting evidence from the 
inspection team in order to validate, moderate and ensure the quality of the 
inspection 

• provide a draft copy of the report for the local authority to note any concerns with 
factual accuracy, and made amendments where necessary 

  

Page 45



A report on Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
January 2023 

23 

Copies of the report 

Copies of this report are available from the local authority and from the Estyn website 
(www.estyn.gov.wales) 

The report was produced in accordance with Section 38 of the Education Act 1997, 
the Children Act 2004 and the Learning and Skills Act 2000. 

Every possible care has been taken to ensure that the information in this document is 
accurate at the time of publication.  Any enquiries or comments regarding this 
document/publication should be addressed to: 

Publications Section 
Estyn 
Anchor Court, Keen Road 
Cardiff 
CF24 5JW  or by email to publications@estyn.gov.wales 

This and other Estyn publications are available on our website: www.estyn.gov.wales 

 

 

 

 

 

 

© Crown Copyright 2023:  This report may be re used free of charge in any format or medium 
provided that it is re used accurately and not used in a misleading context.  The material must be 
acknowledged as Crown copyright and the title of the report specified. 

Publication date:  31/03/2023 

Page 46

http://www.estyn.gov.wales/
mailto:publications@estyn.gov.wales
http://www.estyn.gov.wales/

	Agenda
	2 ESTYN'S REPORT ON EDUCATION SERVICES IN RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	A report on education services in
	Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council
	The Pavillions Cambrian Park Clydach Vale Tonypandy Rhondda Cynon Taf CF40 2XX
	Date of inspection:  January 2023
	by
	Estyn, His Majesty’s Inspectorate for Education
	and Training in Wales
	About Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council
	Summary
	Recommendations
	What happens next
	Main findings
	Outcomes
	Education services
	How effective is the challenge, support and intervention in improving the quality of teaching and leadership in schools and PRUs?
	How effective is the local authority working with its communities to support the most vulnerable learners and what impact is this having, for example on improving attendance, well-being and engagement?
	How well does the local authority meet the needs of pupils with ALN?
	To what extent does the local authority consider appropriately the educational benefits and risks of its school organisation proposals?

	Leadership and management

	Appendix 1:  CASE STUDY OF INNOVATIVE OR EFFECTIVE PRACTICE
	Appendix 2:  CASE STUDY OF INNOVATIVE OR EFFECTIVE PRACTICE
	Evidence base of the report
	Copies of the report

	An example of Youth Engagement and Participation work
	An example of sharing effective practice with schools




